

## Make Your Publications Visible.

A Service of



Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre

Demary, Vera

#### **Working Paper**

The platformization of digital markets: Comments on the public consultation of the European Commission on the regulatory environment for platforms, online intermediaries, data and cloud computing and the collaborative economy

IW Policy Paper, No. 39/2015

#### **Provided in Cooperation with:**

German Economic Institute (IW), Cologne

Suggested Citation: Demary, Vera (2015): The platformization of digital markets: Comments on the public consultation of the European Commission on the regulatory environment for platforms, online intermediaries, data and cloud computing and the collaborative economy, IW Policy Paper, No. 39/2015, Institut der deutschen Wirtschaft (IW), Köln

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/126091

#### Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

#### Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.





Contributions to the political debate by the Cologne Institute for Economic Research

# The Platformization of Digital Markets

Comments on the Public Consultation of the European Commission on the Regulatory Environment for Platforms, Online Intermediaries, Data and Cloud Computing and the Collaborative Economy

#### Author:

Vera Demary

Phone: 0049-221 4987-754

E-Mail: vera.demary@iwkoeln.de

21 December 2015

© Institut der deutschen Wirtschaft Köln Postfach 101942 - 50459 Köln Konrad-Adenauer-Ufer 21 - 50668 Köln www.iwkoeln.de Reproduction is permitted

## **Contents**

Executive summary	3
1. Introduction	4
2. Characteristics of Online Platforms	4
3. Trust and Transparency	8
4. Data Access and Data Use	9
4.1 The Importance of Data	9
4.2 Data Access and Transfer	11
4.3 Data Portability	13
5. Specific Challenges to the Sharing Economy	15
5.1 Challenges to Sharing Economy platforms	16
5.2 Challenges to Suppliers in the Sharing Economy	17
5.3 Challenges to Consumers in the Sharing Economy	18
6. Policy Implications	19
Deferences	21

## **JEL-Classification:**

L14: Transactional Relationships; Contracts and Reputation; Networks

L41: Monopolization; Horizontal Anticompetitive Practices

O33: Technological Change: Choices and Consequences; Diffusion Processes

## 3

# **Executive summary**

Online platforms play an increasingly important role in the European business landscape. Guided by guestions from the European Commission's consultation on this topic, the paper aims to provide insight into the characteristics of online platforms and the resulting regulatory challenges. Issues such as the transparency of platforms or the organization of the Sharing Economy are currently under debate. Generally speaking, one main concern is that online platforms do not account for their users' interests sufficiently, resulting in hardly desirable market outcomes. The paper provides economic reasoning as to why this concern is not always justified and suggests possible policy measures in cases where regulatory action is necessary. The most important aspect being currently discussed in this context is the access to and the use of data. Data are at the center of most online platforms' business models. While regulation to ensure data protection is naturally important, this aspect is the main reason to refrain from overbearing regulation and to emphasize a rule-ofreason approach. European policy-makers need to find the balance between consumer protection and fostering new innovative business models.



## 1. Introduction

Digitization essentially changes businesses. It affects the way companies work, the way they are structured and ultimately how a company is defined. In this changing business environment, online platforms play an increasingly important role. From well-known, large US platforms such as Google and Facebook to small, startup companies offering peer-to-peer services in a platform-setup, online platforms now constitute a vital part of the digital economy. While many aspects of their business activities are the same or very similar to physical companies, there are many issues associated with them that warrant closer analysis. The reason for this is that digitization is accompanied by new phenomena such as the importance of data that have rapidly become relevant and increasingly so.

Against this backdrop, the European Commission in its attempt to create a Digital Single Market has launched a public consultation with respect to online platforms (EU Commission, 2015). The goal is to gain insight into the way platforms work in order to improve the Commission's ability to review the relevant existing regulation or even impose a new framework if deemed necessary. The following analysis is guided by the Commission's questions and aims to provide economic insight into the most important aspects of online platforms currently under debate. Besides characterizing online platforms, the focus is on their transparency and on the access to data and their use. Moreover, the challenges of the Sharing Economy – or Collaborative Economy, as it is called in the consultation document – are discussed as a specific form of platform.

#### 2. Characteristics of Online Platforms

The ongoing digitization of all aspects of business and life gives rise to so-called online platforms. "Online platform" refers to a business model operating in two (or multi)-sided markets, which uses the Internet to enable interactions between two or more distinct but interdependent groups of users in order to generate value for all of the groups (EU Commission, 2015a). For an online or offline platform to work, it is paramount that users on all sides of the platform benefit in some way from using it. If one side derived no value, it would have no incentive to use the platform. As Evans and Schmalensee (2007, p. 2) put it: "The platform helps [...] customers to get together in many ways and thereby creates value for these customers that they could not readily obtain without the coordination provided by the platform." This typically includes subsidization of one side of the multi-sided market by one or more other sides: By charging different prices on different sides of the market, the platform is

able to affect the volume of the transactions (Rochet/Tirole, 2006). This implicitly means that arbitrage between the different sides is impossible (Evans/Schmalensee, 2007). Search engines, online market places, news aggregators, media platforms, video sharing platforms, social networks and Sharing Economy platforms are some examples for online platforms (EU Commission, 2015a).

The relative size of a two- or multi-sided platform is generally influenced by five factors that also determine the concentration of the market (Evans/Schmalensee, 2007):

#### 1. Indirect Network Effects

Indirect network effects imply that users on one side of the market benefit from an increasing number of users on the other side. The higher this effect is, the bigger the relative size of the platform. If platforms become very large, however, indirect network effects may also decline.

#### 2. Scale Economies

While marginal costs of online platforms are low, platforms incur high fixed costs that result in large economies of scale. More platform users imply lower total costs per user: One additional user costs virtually nothing, and the fixed costs are distributed over a higher number of users. This affects market concentration positively. Diseconomies of scale are generally also possible due to the increasing complexity of the platform when it increases in size.

## 3. Congestion

Particularly common in physical markets, a high number of users on either side of a platform can result in congestion. This limits the sensible size of a platform. Online platforms are able to prevent this, at least to a certain extent, by organizing the provision of their product or service in the digital space where a large number of data is easily categorized and matches between the different sides of the platform are consequently made more easily than offline.

#### 4. Platform Differentiation

In order to gain and to maintain a competitive edge, platforms differentiate themselves from each other vertically or horizontally. While vertical differentiation refers to different qualities of a product or service, horizontal differentiation means targeting a specific group of users. In consequence, the number of potential users and hence the relative size of the platform is limited. In general, heterogeneous users make differentiation more feasible.

#### 5. Multi-Homing

Platform differentiation results in multi-homing if consumers use several similar platforms for different needs or even for the same needs. A typical example are social networks. Many users use both Facebook and Google+. Therefore, competing platforms are able to share a market.



**Table 1: Determinants of platform size** 

	Effect on market concentration
Indirect Network Effects	+
Scale Economies	+
Congestion	-
Platform Differentiation	-
Multi-Homing	-

Source: Evans/Schmalensee, 2007, p. 166

Online platforms are very heterogeneous. This is why the advantages of using one can differ immensely depending on the business model of the platform and the sector of the economy they are active in. Furthermore, the advantages depend on what online platforms are compared to, companies in the physical world or even a different market set-up. Table 2 summarizes the main advantages of online platforms that range from the simplification of business transactions to cost and price reductions.

**Table 2: Advantages of online platforms** 

Advantage of	Explanation	Examples for online		
	Explanation	platforms		
online platform		piationns		
Simplification of	Simplification of business transactions			
Accessible	Many business models of online	Search engines, location-		
information	platforms center on providing	based business		
	information that is particularly easy	directories, news		
	and quick to access because it is	aggregators		
	online.			
Easy	The internet facilitates	Payment systems, social		
communication	communication and interaction, often	networks, Sharing		
and interaction	over large distances. Communication	Economy platforms,		
	mechanisms are a vital part of many			
	online platforms.			
Improved	Online platforms are easy to access	Sharing Economy		
match of	and to use. This way, they attract	platforms, location-based		
supply and	large numbers of users and are	business directories,		
demand	therefore able to match demand and			
	supply more easily.			



Increased trust between peers	Generally, the internet enables interactions between consumers and providers that do not know each	Sharing Economy platforms, specialized search tools,			
	'	Search tools,			
	other, hence establishing trust is				
	vital. In peer-to-peer transactions,				
	rating mechanisms increase trust.				
	There is no such mechanism in the				
Creation of onne	physical world.				
Creation of oppo		Ouline mandrature			
Increased	Online platforms provide an overview	Online market places,			
choice	of products and services while often	Sharing Economy			
	including every possible choice. This	platforms, specialized			
	gives room for the development and	search tools,			
	offer of even more choices because				
	consumers are reached more easily				
	than in the physical world.				
Creation of	Digitization in general and the	Audio-visual and media			
new markets	concept of an online platform in	platforms, app stores,			
and new	particular offer a tremendous amount	Sharing Economy			
business	of room for innovation due to new	platforms,			
opportunities	(technological) possibilities.				
Reduction of price	ces and costs	T			
Transparency	Prices are easy to access online and	Price comparison			
of prices	hence easy to compare.	platforms, online market			
		places,			
Lower prices	The access to and comparison of	Online market places,			
	prices makes it harder to offer a	price comparison			
	comparable product at a higher price	platforms, Sharing			
	than a competitor. This results in	Economy platforms,			
	more competitive, possibly lower				
	overall prices.				
Increased	Some online platforms enter markets	Price comparison			
competition	that have been dominated by a few	websites, Sharing			
	firms for a long time. Using their	Economy platforms,			
	unique business model to their	audio-visual and media			
	advantage, they are able to increase	platforms,			
	competition in those markets which				
	can lead to lower prices.				
Lower cost of	Online platforms provide access to a	Online market places,			
access to	large number of consumers at little	Sharing Economy			
consumers	cost because the costs incurred by				



	the platform are much lower than	platforms, search
	they would be in the physical world.	engines,
Sustainability		
Easy sharing	Online platform can facilitate the	Sharing Economy
of resources	sharing of resources which, in a	platforms, video sharing
	world of scarcity, can be a way of	platforms, news
	achieving sustainability. Also, this	aggregators,
	can simply lead to a higher number	
	of users that can be reached with a	
	service.	

Sources: Cologne Institute for Economic Research; EU Commission, 2015a

# 3. Trust and Transparency

Trust is a vital part of all online platforms, especially of those offering peer-to-peer services (Finley, 2013). Since business interactions involving online platforms do not occur face-to-face and supplier and consumer often do not know each other, trust building mechanisms are vital. One way to achieve trust in the digital economy is via transparency. Similarly to traditional businesses, online platforms need to adhere to basic transparency rules in order to ensure a level playing field. This includes displaying information on items covered by consumer law, on what is sponsored content as well as information about the suppliers themselves if they are not identical to the platform. Most platforms already include this information as standard.

It is probable, however, that some online platforms do not provide a systematic and easily understandable overview of this information. First and foremost, they consequently neglect using transparency as a trust-building mechanism. Economic reasoning suggests that if they offered the same product or service as a more transparent, and therefore more trustworthy platform, consumers would prefer the latter. However, this only holds if consumers check the terms and conditions of their business partners. That is why strengthening the awareness of personal responsibility in the digital economy is a lever to increase the transparency of online platforms. If consumers deal with the transparent platforms only, the others will be crowded out of the market or forced to adapt their own information policy. This could be supported by offering templates for transparent terms and conditions to online platforms. As a side effect, this would also significantly reduce the costs for startup platforms.

q

In addition to transparency, trust in online platforms can be established using reputation systems like ratings or reviews. For users of the platform, consumers as well as suppliers, it is helpful if this trust-building mechanism is displayed prominently on the platform's website. The mechanism needs to be explained clearly for users on all sides of the platform. The most important aspect, though, is to ensure that the mechanism is not manipulated. For ratings of suppliers, this could mean that only consumers who have verifiably interacted with a supplier are able to rate this interaction, for example. Depending on the mechanism, it might be helpful to establish a seal of quality that online platforms can apply for at an independent institution and that indicates that the trust-building mechanism is certified (cf. section 4.1). This procedure would also enhance trust in the online platform itself which is generally more difficult. This is similar to building trust in traditional companies which requires a diverse mix of activities that do not necessarily have the same effect on all business partners and consumers. These activities include, but are not limited to: transparent terms and conditions, a congenial and believable company image and strategy, and a quick and reliable customer service.

One reason why transparency is of such great importance for online platforms is that they are able to collect vast amounts of information, in many cases personal data. This makes users more susceptible with respect to how this information is being used. Transparency of business practices in this area is therefore helpful in dispelling the concerns and fears of (potential) users. The use of data will be analyzed in more detail in the next section.

## 4. Data Access and Data Use

## 4.1 The Importance of Data

Data are often deemed the currency of the internet (e.g. Greengard, 2015; Curtis, 2015): Users are said to pay for online services that are technically free of charge with their data. For online platforms, this is only partially correct. A key characteristic of a platform is that typically users on one side of the platform subsidize users on the other side (Rochet/Tirole, 2006). Take a search engine, for example: While users who search can do so free of charge, companies pay for the advertisements shown next to the search results. At this point, the consumers' data are irrelevant. They are used, however, to improve the service for both sides of the platform. By using the search queries to improve the algorithm searching the internet, the results over time match consumers' perceptions better. Moreover, using the data allows the platform to skim the willingness to pay of advertisers by personalizing advertisements to the

10

consumers' interest. In that sense, consumers actually do pay for the (improved) search with their data.

Not only for search engines, but for all sorts of online platforms, generating, aggregating and analyzing data is an important part of the business model. Data are used to improve the service and hence the market share of the platform and to attract advertisers. Online platforms have thereby become an important part of the European economy, increasing competition in many markets. However, the playing field between online platforms and traditional companies is not always level, especially when it comes to the use and protection of data. The most prominent example is the telecommunication industry which is subject to strict regulation with respect to data protection. The online platforms competing with them in the market for telephone conversations or text messaging (OTTs – over-the-top content suppliers) are not that strictly regulated. In consequence, it remains unclear if and how they use the generated data. As this example illustrates, the use of information by platforms and its lack of regulation are a competitive advantage for the new entrants and thus prevent a level playing field. However, there have been some developments to ensure a level playing field. Just recently, Google's email service Gmail was ruled to be a telecommunication service by an administrative court in Germany (Verwaltungsgericht Köln, 2015). If this ruling lasts, Google will have to comply with the strict telecom regulation, including data protection regulation.

Overall, it is important to review the existing regulation in the relevant markets. With respect to the use of data, especially sensitive personal data, it might be useful to adjust regulation for online platforms. In some cases, however, less regulation for traditional firms might also be appropriate. This very much depends on the market, the business models of the online platforms and the generated data. Any regulation designed for online platforms should take into account the importance of data for those business models. The aim should be to guarantee a level playing field, not to create a competitive disadvantage for the platforms.

Even the most appropriate regulation cannot replace every user's personal responsibility with respect to their data. Users sometimes lack the awareness that their actions online create data that might be used. This can at least partly be mitigated by prominently displaying information on the online platforms on the data collected and the terms and conditions of their use. Even then, it is highly likely that some users that are not content with these terms still use the service. Strengthening the awareness of personal responsibility with respect to online activities in schools could be a way to counteract this.



#### 4.2 Data Access and Transfer

The emergence of business models like online platforms centered around data raises the question of who is allowed access to the data. One appealing characteristic of data is that their transfer to another entity is easy and virtually free of charge. It is clear-cut that the creation of the Digital Single Market in the European Union cannot be successful without considering data access and data transfer. Generally speaking, two types of data can be distinguished, namely personal and non-personal data. In the context of online platforms, most of the data being generated are personal data. Personal data are defined in the EU Directive on the protection of such data as "... any information relating to an identified or identifiable natural person ..." (EU Parliament / EU Council, 1995, Article 2(a)). Identification happens directly or indirectly, "... in particular by reference to an identification number or to one or more factors specific to his physical, physiological, mental, economic, cultural or social identity" (ibid.). Data generated by user activity on online platforms are almost always personal data under this definition (European Data Protection Supervisor, 2014).

For users of online platforms, access to data they have voluntarily left – for example data they stored using a cloud service or data they uploaded on their social network page – is an understandably sensitive subject. Any change in the terms and conditions of access to those data by online platforms should consequently be avoided. If a change is necessary, it should be announced in a transparent way and in due time. That way, users have ample time to take appropriate action if they want to. This approach indicates that the platform is transparent and its quality of service is high. This impression could be enhanced by a rating, certification scheme or a quality seal issued by an independent agency. For users of the platform this would be a more objective indicator of quality than the platform's transparency alone. As a result, trust might be enhanced which would benefit the platform immensely in its attempt to attract a large user base. It seems unnecessary, though, to establish such a formalized quality seal through public authorities. They could support a privatelyfinanced seal and thereby increase its credibility. The funding of such a seal would have to be covered by the online platforms being assessed and eventually awarded the seal. This system already works very well with respect to higher education accreditation. Platforms would have an incentive to apply and pay for the seal if it is a credible sign for their trustworthiness. The more online platforms exist, the more attractive a quality seal becomes. A prerequisite for this mechanism to work, however, are high standards of the seal-awarding institution, possibly ensured by public monitoring.

Access to personal data can also refer to access by the online platform itself, for example to transfer data for storage reasons. Countries as well as companies today Institut der deutschen

are strongly interconnected (IW Köln / IW Consult, 2015). This often leads to data being exchanged cross-border between enterprises. Until the ruling of the European Court of Justice on 6 October 2015 declaring it invalid (ECJ, 2015a), data exchanges between companies in the European Union and the United States were conducted adhering to the "Safe Harbor" framework. Under this scheme, companies in the United States that imported personal data from their European subsidiaries or other European enterprises voluntarily subscribed to the seven Safe Harbor principles, such as notification of individuals about the purpose of information collection (Bange et al., 2013). Before the ruling, the European Commission took the view that the Safe Harbor framework ensured an adequate level of protection of the transferred data, such that no further monitoring was deemed necessary (ECJ, 2015b). For companies transferring data to their US counterparts the Safe Harbor framework provided the necessary legal basis for their activities. After the ruling, this is no longer possible, creating legal uncertainty for a great number of European and American enterprises as well as stifling progress and innovation. A new data protection agreement between the European Union and the United States is urgently required.

While the Safe Harbor framework focused on the transfer and safe-guarding of personal data, the rise of the so-called Internet of Everything – also known as the Internet of Things, Industrial Internet or Industrie 4.0 – generates great amounts of non-personal data. The idea behind the concept is to create intelligent, digitally interconnected systems that allow people, machines, objects and products to communicate and to co-operate (Plattform Industrie 4.0, 2015). The data that are generated when machines communicate with each other, for example, might allow for an improvement of the production process and consequently for substantial cost savings. The data might even be able to support new business models along the value chain. As long as it is just one company within which the data are generated, the use of these non-personal data is a big chance for that company to improve its performance. Due to the interconnectedness of the Internet of Everything, in many cases more than one company takes part in the data-generating process. While contracts might be able to solve some of the possibly arising conflicts about the right to collect, possess and analyze the data, a non-market solution could still be required. This would be the case if the access to the data was easier for one stakeholder than for the other. If one company can exclude others from using data that can probably be transferred into a competitive advantage, it might have a strong incentive to do so. It is therefore necessary to set the ground rules for access to and use of non-personal data at EU level. Especially in cases where data are generated in an automated manner, specific measures at EU level are crucial. Take an automated vacuum cleaner, for example, that measures the room layout using laser technology to find the most efficient route to clean the whole space. Doing this, it automatically generates data. In some cases, the user of the device generating the



data might not be aware of this. Since transparency is an important aspect of online platforms (see section 3), an obligation to inform the user about the data being generated is commendable. As set out above, to avoid strategic and anti-competitive behavior, it is furthermore necessary to attribute the right to use the data to some entity. Especially in circumstances with many stakeholders, this is a tough task. It might then be useful to share the data between those stakeholders in order to ensure a level playing field.

In the context of data access, restrictions imposed on the location of data are also an issue. For some data, such as tax records or corporate documents for example, regulatory bodies in the EU have predetermined their storage location. In many cases, these data are required to be stored in the same jurisdiction that they are produced in (De Brauw Blackstone Westbroek, 2013). Digitization and the advent of cloud computing services that are able to store data on servers anywhere in the world have rendered an overhaul of the current regulation necessary. Local storage is no longer a necessity since data stored in cloud systems are accessible from everywhere.

Against this backdrop, there are still several valid reasons for data location restrictions. Generally, these are security-related. First and foremost, there is a strong argument to restrict the storage and access of data that might be of interest to foreign powers in order to preserve national security (De Brauw Blackstone Westbroek, 2013). Security can also be a reason for location restrictions on another level: Public security could also play a role. In each case, it is important to exactly define the affected data and to impose as little regulation as possible. The norm should be that there is no location restriction but instead the owner of the data can freely decide where to store them. This ensures personal freedom and allows new business models such as cloud computing services to flourish. In case of an expected severe impact of non-regulation on national or public security, restrictions should be imposed, however. Ideally, these restrictions would be determined at a European level in order to make business easier for online platforms than in case of different restrictions in different EU member states. For online platforms that are trying to scale up in order to make use of economies of scale, cross-border activity is essential. They are therefore in many cases automatically active in several jurisdictions, making the access to data a complex challenge.

#### 4.3 Data Portability

If switching online platforms is costly, users of the platform might face a so-called lock-in effect (Shapiro/Varian, 1999). It is difficult to change to a different platform



offering a similar service, meaning that users are effectively bound to the platform that they are currently using. The main reason users are locked-in with respect to an online platform is data. Customers as well as suppliers generate data when they use an online platform, either directly or indirectly. If they change the platform, they typically have to leave the data – such as emails, search histories or even an acquired reputation rating – behind and start over on a new substitute platform. Data portability could contribute surmounting such a lock-in: Under this mechanism, users would be able to transfer their data from one online platform to another without hindrance (Swire/Lagos, 2013).

Generally speaking, creating lock-in is often part of a platform's strategy (Shapiro/Varian, 1999) since it impacts the platform's growth and its market position: If users are locked in, it is easier to reach, maintain and enhance a monopoly especially against the backdrop of extensive network effects. For online platforms, lock-in consequently equates to a competitive advantage which they work hard to maintain. Data provided by users are first and foremost used to build a unique service. Lock-in occurs because users value this service: They value the emails they have received, the quality of search results or reputation derived from repeated online interactions. They have an incentive to stay with their particular platform because the service is better than elsewhere since it is tailored to them. This competitive advantage would be destroyed if data had to be transferable. If users could take their search history with them to another service provider, the investment incentives in these kinds of businesses would be severely impacted. The extent of the lock-in effect highly depends on the characteristics of the platform, however (for an overview, confer Shapiro/Varian, 1999): For example, switching costs are much lower (but still relevant) for search engines than for social networks. The customer lock-in risk also includes reduced negotiation power in reaction to price increases and service discontinuation (for example in case the platform provider goes out of business).

The repeated interactions between an online platform and its users resulting from lock-in also have benefits. The uncertainty dealing with an unknown company and unknown suppliers in the online world is reduced. If companies work as transparently as recommended in section 3, the way the service works as well as terms and conditions become better known and trust can be built.

The digital and the physical world have in common that data are produced during each economic interaction. Take a company searching to take out a loan, for example. At its relationship bank, the risks and hence the costs are calculated using firstly the data that the company supplies. Secondly, other data, like its credit history or its payment morale in the past, are taken into account. None of the latter is

Institut der deutschen

transferable to another bank. There, the company asking for a loan would just have to supply the same information about itself again, whereas aspects such as credit history would not play any role. This example demonstrates that data portability is not guaranteed in the physical world. The main difference to the digital world is that data play a much more important role online than offline and are the very essence of most online platform business models. Also, the extent to which market power can be abused is larger in the online world due to network effects.

The actual question is, however, whether switching costs and the resulting lock-in foster the abuse of a dominant market position. European competition law requires consequences in this case. However, the past has shown that market power stemming from lock-in effects need not be permanent, especially with respect to online businesses. While the VZ-social network (that started out copying American competitor Facebook) was the most successful such business in Germany in 2009, it has since been replaced by Facebook, for example (onlineich, 2009, 2010). Oligopolistic competition between online platforms offering similar services is possible as the American search engine market shows, which is divided (although not evenly) between Google, Yahoo and Bing (Statista, 2015).

Against this background, a per-se approach of data portability for all online platforms that exhibit switching costs is neither appropriate nor necessary. The main goal should be to keep regulation to a minimum such that investment in innovative business models is not squashed. A rule-of-reason approach based on the characteristics of the relevant market and business model is more useful and gives room for online platforms to flourish.

# 5. Specific Challenges to the Sharing Economy

The so-called Sharing Economy – alternatively labelled Collaborative Economy – has been on the rise in Europe and elsewhere. It refers to a special kind of online platform that includes "economic activities that focus on sharing goods, service or knowledge" (Demary, 2015, 4). Sharing economy platforms "link individuals and/or legal persons [...] allowing them to provide services and/or exchange assets, resources, time, skills, or capital, sometimes for a temporary period and without transferring ownership rights" (EU Commission, 2015a, 33). This definition includes B2C (business-to-consumer), B2B (business-to-business) and P2P (peer-to-peer) types of transactions as well as costly transactions and ones free of charge (Demary, 2015). The challenges associated with these types of platforms are partly the same as for other online platforms. The fact that suppliers (or providers, as they are called



by the EU Commission) are often individuals results in some specific challenges. Overall, these challenges can be categorized according to the group of stakeholders they affect.

## 5.1 Challenges to Sharing Economy platforms

**Regulatory framework.** Due to their specific architecture, Sharing Economy platforms often do not consider themselves subject to the same regulation as traditional providers. That is why a quick review of the existing framework in the relevant markets is urgently necessary to determine the appropriate regulation in order to ensure a level playing field (Demary, 2015).

Opposition from traditional companies. Typically, Sharing Economy platforms compete with traditional firms in several markets, be it the taxi market or the market for travel accommodations, for example. They face severe opposition by the traditional incumbents who try to protect the market and raise barriers to entry by insisting on adhering to the existing regulation despite the Sharing Economy business model and technological change. In many European countries, this conflict is addressed by taking it to court, usually because traditional companies file a suit. Especially for small startup Sharing Economy platforms, this poses an unpredictable risk due to their financial constraints. Not resolving the conflict, however, causes legal uncertainty that is especially hard to deal with for young companies. It is even possible that the financial burden of legal action forces Sharing Economy platforms out of the market. A review of the regulation in each market is therefore essential in order to create legal certainty for Sharing Economy companies and disperse the threat of legal battles (Demary, 2015). The goal should be not to favor either side, but to improve the existing rules in such a way that traditional companies and Sharing Economy platforms can compete fairly. This can include the adjustment of the existing rules if they are – due to technological progress, for example – no longer appropriate. It can also include their enforcement if they do indeed capture the regulatory requirements of the market well. Voluntary standards that the Sharing Economy platforms agree upon do not resolve the conflict but carry the potential to create a competitive advantage for the new entrants that is essentially induced by the (often very strict) regulation of the traditional companies. Ideally, regulation in a market should be the same for all companies.

Multitude of framework conditions in the EU. Like any network, Sharing Economy platforms need a large user base in order to be able to scale up quickly and benefit from economies of scale that lower barriers to entry and hence make market entry possible (Shapiro/Varian, 1999). For Europe, creating a large user base is



particularly difficult due to two reasons: First of all, the 28 European Union member states have 24 official languages. In consequence, a large number of translations of the platforms' services are necessary in order to reach users across the continent. Secondly, there are different legal frameworks across Europe. A data protection legislation that provides legal certainty in a digitized world has not been passed yet, for instance. Scaling up therefore implies a huge bureaucratic and human-capital intensive burden for Sharing Economy platforms. This is a tremendous competitive disadvantage compared to the United States. There is not much that can be done about the different languages, but the legal framework should be defined in a way that it is similar, if not identical, across the EU member states. Besides data protection, this includes copyright, for example. In some cases, the existing rules need to be applied in a more appropriate way. One example is the Services Directive: If Sharing Economy platforms were defined as digital services, regulation at EU level – implying similar rules all over the EU – would be possible under this directive. Instead, a different classification, for example as transport services in case of Uber, leaves regulation to the member states. The result are higher costs of adhering to the regulation for Sharing Economy platforms and consequently higher expenditures for scaling up the business.

**Insufficient funding.** Similar to all online platforms, Sharing Economy platforms face relatively high fixed and hardly any variable costs. Because the risk associated with starting such a business is high, venture capital often is the only way of financing. The availability of venture capital in the EU is relatively scarce, however (Piegeler/Röhl, 2015). Supporting the availability of funding is crucial in order to maintain and to increase the competitiveness of the EU as a location for business.

# 5.2 Challenges to Suppliers in the Sharing Economy

**Uncertainty about rights and obligations.** Especially in cases where the suppliers are individuals, uncertainty about their obligations and rights arises. The less often suppliers are active and the less professionally they work, the more likely questions of data protection requirements or the compliance with health and safety standards become relevant. The challenge lies in informing suppliers about the existing framework for self-employed work. While adhering to the framework is every supplier's own responsibility, the Sharing Economy platform is accountable for ensuring the suppliers' attention to its users' rights. In the face of a platform's typical activities - being active in many countries with different frameworks - this is a complex task, even if it only involves making the relevant information public on its website. Still, to attract a large customer base, it is in every Sharing Economy platform's best interest to ensure that its suppliers do not violate their obligations. For

18

this reason, regulation is deemed only an emergency solution in case the market does not resolve this challenge on its own. It is indisputable, however, that independent of the relative size of a supplier – that is his level of activity in the Sharing Economy – consumer protection should always be taken into account.

**Employment and social rights.** Sharing Economy platforms and the increasing participation of suppliers have an impact on employment. Generally speaking, suppliers in the Sharing Economy are in many cases self-employed, often even as a second job besides an employed position. Some might use a Sharing Economy platform to offer the freelance work they offered via other channels before. They often work from home but might use offices or co-working spaces as well. The overall impact of these platforms on work and new or other forms of work than dependent employment cannot be easily determined. The Sharing Economy is very heterogeneous (Demary, 2015). That is why the effect may vary depending on the sector, on each case and sometimes even national employment laws. The implications of the Sharing Economy on the social rights of its suppliers are therefore not clear-cut. Commonly, suppliers in the Sharing Economy that are self-employed face the same challenges as the self-employed in traditional industries. They are consequently able to use the same support system in place. The details depend on the country, but in many cases, government-promoted counseling services are available, for example. They cover issues such as insurance and taxation as well as guidance on the legal structure (BA, 2015).

Undeclared work and taxation. Sharing Economy platforms allow and foster selfemployed work. If suppliers do not take their obligations as self-employed providers seriously, this poses a challenge with respect to undeclared work and consequently taxation. A threshold dividing individuals occasionally sharing a good and professionals engaged in commercial activity is necessary. A homeowner sharing his house twice a year while on vacation should not carry the same obligations as one that rents out his property all year long, for example. A clear-cut definition of the relevant threshold is therefore necessary. With respect to the definition of commercial activities, an appropriate indicator would be revenue derived from participating in the Sharing Economy or the value-added tax paid on this revenue. It would be helpful if Sharing Economy platforms had to include a notice of this threshold on their website in order to ensure that individual suppliers are aware of their obligations.

## 5.3 Challenges to Consumers in the Sharing Economy

**Uncertainty about rights and obligations.** Sharing goods, services or knowledge online is a novelty for many consumers. In 2015, only between two and six per cent

19

of the population of the large European economies state that they have taken part in it (ING-DiBa, 2015). This can be paralleled by an uncertainty about their rights and obligations in the Sharing Economy. Although the terms and conditions of the business transactions facilitated by the Sharing Economy platforms should be an integral part of their website, consumers might still not read them. As mentioned above, strengthening the personal responsibility in the online world, starting in school, could be helpful in order to resolve this issue. A prominent display of the terms and conditions on the platforms' websites is a prerequisite for this.

Uncertainty about the quality of the good or service. Consumers using Sharing Economy platforms are constantly faced with the challenge of assessing the quality of the offered good or service. This is especially relevant in peer-to-peer transactions where individual suppliers seem hardly tangible even though they are as liable and responsible as firms supplying the good or service. Overall, this results in an insecurity for the consumer that can be mitigated by the platform by offering a reputation mechanism. The importance of such a rating system is even higher in the Sharing Economy than in online platforms overall (cf. section 3).

# 6. Policy Implications

Online platforms are a relatively new, but increasingly common form of digitized companies. While they pose specific challenges, they also carry the promise of being especially innovative businesses that can propel the European economy forward in its development and lead to further prosperity and growth. The analysis and discussion of the aspects of online platforms currently under debate yields the following implications for policy-makers, especially at the European level:

## • Encourage transparency of online platforms.

In order to ensure the trustworthiness of online platforms, transparent as well as stable terms and conditions are important. One way to support startup companies in this respect is to offer easy-to-handle templates that fulfil the current EU data protection requirements.

#### Promote signals of quality.

In order to overcome information asymmetries, believable signals of quality for online platforms might be useful. European policy-makers could endorse such a private quality seal for online platforms that strengthens trust in the businesses that it is awarded to. Possibly, regulation might be needed to guarantee the high standards necessary for such a seal to have the desired effect.

20

#### Strengthen awareness of personal responsibility.

While it is essential to ensure that online platforms do not betray their users' trust in them, everyone's personal responsibility with respect to their online activities and behavior cannot be emphasized enough. Internet users become younger and younger. Activities to strengthen the awareness of this responsibility therefore need to start at a young age, possibly in school.

#### Level the playing field.

The regulation of physical companies and online platforms often differs, be it with respect to telecommunication or Sharing Economy companies. Levelling the playing field is necessary to facilitate fair competition. Preferably, this entails a liberalization of markets although this depends on the market and the business models that occur in them.

## Use a rule-of-reason approach for regulation.

Online platforms raise issues that were not relevant before, like data portability. It is clear-cut that the regulatory framework needs some adjustment to the arising challenges. It is sensible, however, to use a rule-of-reason approach rather than a per-se regulation with respect to the portability of data. Also, while even in the digital age some location restrictions are useful, policy-makers should refrain from imposing extensively strict restrictions such as not to squash the emergence of new business models and companies.

#### Provide legal certainty quickly.

Legal uncertainty reigns the current situation for many online platforms, mainly in the context of data protection. Policy-makers should therefore try to improve the situation quickly. This includes a fast negotiation of EU officials with their US counterparts about Safe Harbor II as well as the overdue finalization of the EU data protection legislation.

Online platforms are an increasingly important part of the European economy landscape. It is now the job of the European policy-makers to find a middle way: On the one hand, they need to make sure that online platforms will be able to continue contributing to the European economy and that innovation is fostered instead of stifled. On the other hand, policy-makers need to ensure that the framework for their business activities is fit for purpose and considers the interest of consumers.



## References

#### BA – Bundesagentur für Arbeit, 2015, Existenzgründung,

https://www.arbeitsagentur.de/web/content/DE/Veroeffentlichungen/Themenheftedur chstarten/Existenzgruendung/index.htm [30-11-2015]

**Bange**, Vinod / **Annereau**, Sally / **Lyons**, Lucy, 2013, The Role of Safe Harbor Schemes, http://united-

kingdom.taylorwessing.com/globaldatahub/article\_safe\_harbor\_schemes.html [8-12-2015]

**Curtis**, Sophie, 2015, How much is your personal data worth?, in: The Telegraph, 23 November 2015, http://www.telegraph.co.uk/technology/news/12012191/How-much-is-your-personal-data-worth.html [30-11-2015]

**De Brauw Blackstone Westbroek** (ed.), 2013, EU Country Guide, Data Location & Access Restriction, http://www.verwal.net/services/records-management-and-retention/ [4-12-2015]

**Demary**, Vera, 2015, Competition in the Sharing Economy, IW policy papers, No. 19, Cologne

**ECJ** – European Court of Justice, 2015a, Judgement of the Court (Grand Chamber), 6 October 2015, Case C-362/14, Maximilian Schrembs v Data Protection Commissioner,

http://curia.europa.eu/juris/document/document.jsf?text=&docid=169195&pageIndex =0&doclang=en&mode=lst&dir=&occ=first&part=1&cid=587675 [7-12-2015]

**ECJ**, 2015b, The Court of Justice declares that the Commission's US Safe Harbor Decision is invalid, Press Release No. 117/15, Judgement in Case C-362/14, Maximilian Schrembs v Data Protection Commissioner, http://curia.europa.eu/jcms/jcms/Jo2\_16799/?annee=2015 [8-12-2015]

**EU Commission**, 2015, Regulatory environment for platforms, online intermediaries, data and cloud computing and the collaborative economy, http://ec.europa.eu/digital-agenda/en/news/public-consultation-regulatory-environment-platforms-online-intermediaries-data-and-cloud [24-11-2015]

**EU Parliament** / **EU Council**, 1995, Directive 95/46/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 24 October 1995 on the protection of individuals with regard to the processing of personal data and on the free movement of such data, Official Journal L 281, 23/11/1995, pp. 0031 - 0050

**European Data Protection Supervisor**, 2014, Privacy and competitiveness in the age of big data: The interplay between data protection, competition law and consumer protection in the Digital Economy, Preliminary Opinion of the European Data Protection Supervisor, Brussels



**Evans**, David S. / **Schmalensee**, Richard, 2007, The Industrial Organization of Markets with two-sided Platforms, in: Competition Policy International, Vol. 3, Issue 1, pp. 151–179

**Finley**, Kate, 2013, Trust in the Sharing Economy: An Exploratory Study, Centre for Cultural Policy Studies, University of Warwick, Warwick

**Greengard**, Samuel, 2015, Data Is the New Currency, http://www.baselinemag.com/blogs/data-is-the-new-currency.html [30-11-2015]

**ING-DiBa**, 2015, My car is my castle, Economic Research, https://www.ing-diba.de/ueber-uns/presse/pressemitteilungen/mein-haus-mein-auto/ [30-11-2015]

**IW Köln / IW Consult** (ed.), 2015, Digitalisierung, Vernetzung und Strukturwandel: Wege zu mehr Wohlstand, Erster IW-Strukturbericht, Cologne

**onlineich**, 2009, Facebook vs. StudiVZ – Ein Zwischenstand (Teil 2), http://onlineich.de/20091231/facebook-vs-studivz-ein-zwischenstand-teil-2/ [3-12-2015]

**onlineich**, 2010, Social Networks: Top 100, http://online-ich.de/20100820/social-networks-top-100-liste-deutschland/ [3-12-2015]

**Piegeler**, Monika / **Röhl**, Klaus-Heiner, 2015, Innovationen brauchen Freiheit – Wie gründungsfreundlich ist Deutschland?, Study for the INSM, Berlin

**Plattform Industrie 4.0**, 2015, Was ist Industrie 4.0? Die vierte industrielle Revolution: Auf dem Weg zur intelligenten und flexiblen Produktion, http://www.plattform-i40.de/I40/Navigation/DE/Industrie40/WasIndustrie40/was-ist-industrie-40.html;jsessionid=7A94F90615D0084E0B71150DC805567F [8-12-2015]

**Rochet**, Jean-Charles / **Tirole**, Jean, 2006, Two-Sided Markets: A Progress Report, in: The RAND Journal of Economics, Vol. 37, Issue 3, pp. 645–667

**Shapiro**, Carl / **Varian**, Hal R., 1999, Information Rules, A strategic guide to the network economy, Boston, MA

**Swire**, Peter / **Lagos**, Yianni, 2013, Why The Right to Data Portability Likely Reduces Consumer Welfare: Antitrust and Privacy Critique, in: Maryland Law Review, Vol. 72, Issue 2, pp. 335–380

**Statista**, 2015, Share of search queries handled by leading U.S. search engine providers as of October 2015, http://www.statista.com/statistics/267161/market-share-of-search-engines-in-the-united-states/ [3-12-2015]

**Verwaltungsgericht Köln**, 2015, Googles Email-Dienst "Gmail" ist ein Telekommunikationsdienst, Pressemitteilung vom 25. November 2015, http://www.vg-

koeln.nrw.de/behoerde/presse/Pressemitteilungen/55\_151125/index.php [30-11-2015]